#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAM LUCAS

**APPELLANT** 

v.

No. 2011-CA-00015

JEANNIE H. HENDRIX and JOHN E. HENDRIX

**APPELLEES** 

# PRINCIPAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

#### ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

On Appeal from the Chancery Court of Lowndes County, Miss. No. 2010-0538

Charles D. Easley
Miss. Bar No
EASLEY LAW FIRM, LLC
Post Office Box 1742
Columbus, Miss. 39703-1472

T: 662.327.1000 F: 662.327.1309

David Neil McCarty
Miss. Bar No
David Neil McCarty Law Firm, PLLC
416 East Amite Street
Jackson, Miss. 39201
T: 601.874.0721

E: dnmlaw@gmail.com

Attorneys for Appellant

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAM LUCAS

**APPELLANT** 

v.

#### Statement of the Issues Presented for Review

- I. The Trial Court Failed to Employ the Albright Factors.
- II. The Trial Court Improperly Weighed the Actions of Another Person Against the Natural Parent.
- III. The Hendrixes Did Not Prove By Clear and Convincing Evidence that Adam Was an Unfit Parent.
- IV. The Order Must Be Reversed Because the Legislature Has Not Defined the Process for Termination of Parental Rights.

## **Statement Regarding Oral Argument**

Pursuant to MRAP 34(b), oral argument would assist the Court in resolving this case in two main ways. First, this case involves the right of a natural parent to keep custody of his children, one of the most fundamental rights in our society. Oral argument will detail the extremely heavy burden faced by a third party wishing to intrude upon those fundamental rights.

Second, oral argument is necessary to clarify the proper standard that should be applied in cases where a court weighs the rights of a natural parent versus a third party.

#### Statement of the Case

This is a case where grandparents seek custody of two children against the wishes of their father, who is also their natural born parent.

The father had a relationship with the daughter of the grandparents, and that relationship produced two beloved sons. The daughter of the grandparents passed away, and the father began the full-time support of his children. After several years, the grandparents acted to have his custody of the sons terminated. They sought full custody, and attempted to prove that the father was somehow immoral or otherwise unfit to be a parent to his sons.

The trial court agreed with the grandparents. The father appeals that ruling in order to gain back his family.

#### **Facts and Procedural History**

Certain facts are undisputed by the parties. Undisputed is that Adam Lucas and Shannon Hendrix had a relationship which produced two children, Cody (now aged 12) and Tyler (now aged 10). R. at 32, 33. After the birth of the boys, Shannon passed away. R.E. at 8 n.1, 9. Adam has a ninth grade education and a GED. Tr. 176. His father died the same day Shannon passed away. Tr. 177.

Adam later married, and his wife Heather and the boys lived together along with her three children from a prior marriage. R.E. at 9. Adam and his family live in a home with three bedrooms and two bathrooms. R.E. at 9. The three brothers are in one bedroom, the sisters in another, and the parents in the third. R.E. at 9. There are two dogs that live in the home with the family. R.E. at 11. The home is on roughly an acre and a half of land. Tr. 85. They have a four-wheeler and a Playstation 3. Tr. 132, 164. The electricity has been cut off to the house before—once for three days, once for roughly a half hour. Tr. 154.

The boys are both all-star baseball players, but could do better in school. Tr. 55.

Shannon's parents, the Hendrixes, sought sole custody over their grandsons, and filed suit to terminate Adam's parental rights over Cody and Tyler. R. at 4. At trial, several disputed facts arose—although in most instances it was only that Mrs. Hendrix had a particular view of the facts different from the other witnesses. Mr. Hendrix did not testify at trial.

Mrs. Hendrix had been straining to obtain her grandchildren for some time. Speaking of the Hendrixes, Adam testified that "[e]ver since Shannon died, I been beat down by them every day." Tr. 186. Mrs. Hendrix had been investigated for kidnapping the boys on one occasion. Tr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Record cites will be as follows: to the Record itself, "R. at [page]." To the Record Excerpts of the Appellants, "R.E. at [page]." To the transcript of the trial, "Tr. at [page]."

58. She admitted on the stand that she took the boys without Adam's permission. Tr. 59. She further conceded that she did tell their father that she took them. Tr. 59.

Against this backdrop the Hendrixes sought to prove that Adam was an unfit father. The Hendrixes had claimed the boys lived in a dirty house with Adam. Yet the testimony of *every* other witness held otherwise—even those witnesses called by the Hendrixes. Adam's sister-in-law Rachel testified that she thought the house was fine. Tr. 77. His brother Lonnie thought the house was clean. Tr. 90. Adam's mother testified that "They have a very clean house," and that Adam's wife Heather actually cleaned her house as well. Tr. 202. Adam's aunt Joanne testified that the house was "very nice." Tr. 212. Another aunt testified that she "loves" the house, which is "just a couple of blocks behind" where she lives. Tr. 218.

Unlike the rest of the witnesses, Mrs. Hendrix believed Adam and the boys' home was very dirty. Tr. 30. Despite this testimony, Adam's wife testified that Mrs. Hendrix had left her dog at their house for dogsitting. Tr. 162.

The Hendrixes also claimed that the house was dangerous because there were two dogs. Again, Mrs. Hendrix had left her dog at the house before, proving that she did not think it too dangerous. The older boy, Tyler, testified that he played with the dogs. Tr. 126. Once he was bitten: "Yeah, one of them he bit me and it wasn't serious, but he bit me." Tr. 126. He testified the bite broke the skin, but he didn't have to go to the hospital. Tr. 126. Mrs. Hendrix did not even have knowledge about the dog bite, and when asked if "there [had] ever been any type of health care or injuries to the boys based on the dogs?" she answered "No. But Tyler has coughed a lot, you know." Tr. at 33-34.

Adam admitted that he had a history of drinking and was working to control his drinking, and that he attends AA meetings but occasionally took a drink. Tr. 187. He had gotten a DUI for "fishing and drinking." Tr. 181. His wife said that he "drinks, but he doesn't get drunk." Tr.

155. His brother Lonnie admitted Adam drank, but thought that it was "no different from everybody else I have seen drinking, you know." Tr. 87. Adam's sister-in-law thought that his drinking got worse after his father died. Tr. 75.

Mrs. Hendrix also alleged the children were underfed. Tr. 31, 33. Yet the other witnesses testified they always had food. Tyler said he always had food, clothes, and school supplies. Tr. 135. Adam said he always had food for his sons. Tr. 181. The boys' other grandmother testified there were no food complaints. Tr. 204.

Mrs. Hendrix attempted to make a great deal about having to pick the boys up one time when they were walking over a mile from the house. Tr. 49. Yet on questioning from the Hendrixes' counsel, Tyler admitted that when his grandmother came to pick him up, it wasn't because he was in danger—it was "[b]ecause I called her, cause I didn't want to ride the bus that day." Tr. 138.

Adam admitted it was tough going financially. He testified that it was "really hard to find" a job—"You got to take what you can get." Tr. 190. Adam testified he would do whatever it takes to get a job: "I mean, if it means digging a ditch, then I'm digging a ditch... If it means working at a sewer plant, I'm working at a sewer plant." Tr. 190. His wife Heather admitted that they struggle financially and "[t]he main thing we fight over is money honestly." Tr. 157. They also fought about how much leeway Adam would give the Hendrixes over the boys. Tr. 159.

For their parts, the boys were typical kids. They are both all-star baseball players. Tr. 55. Mrs. Hendrix testified she once caught the boys sneaking her cigarettes. Tr. 52. Tyler's teacher testified that he wasn't trying hard in school for a while. Tr. 95. She described Tyler as very "polite but he doesn't talk," and is very quiet but "seems like a happy child sitting in the classroom . . . ." Tr. 99, 112. He had a history of problems with math. Tr. 99. His grades are

in P.E. Tr. 105. Ms. Price ultimately testified that she does "feel like he's trying now," and that "he's making an effort" in school. Tr. 113.

Cody's teacher said he was "doing ok" in school. Tr. 116. She testified that "[h]e does fine," "[h]e has friends," and "[h]e's lively." Tr. 117. The teacher further agreed that he was "just like most normal little boys," although his grades were not high. Tr. 123.

Importantly, despite all of Mrs. Hendrix's allegations of Adam's unfitness, she admitted that she never called the Department of Human Services regarding her grandsons. Tr. 62. Nor did she ever call the police. Tr. 67.

Despite the great wealth of evidence demonstrating that Adam was not an unfit father, and that the boys were just like most kids in Mississippi, the trial court agreed with the Hendrixes, ruling that Adam drank too much, the house was unclean, the children had had trouble in school, and that Adam had a poor work history. R.E. 11-15. The trial court granted full custody to the Hendrixes, and Adam timely filed an appeal of that ruling.

## **Summary of the Argument**

This case must be reversed for four major reasons. Most notably, the trial court applied the wrong legal standard in two instances. First, the trial court failed to apply the *Albright* factors, which is a clear violation of Mississippi law.

Second, the trial court improperly assessed the alleged actions of Heather Lucas against Adam, even though the case law mandates that only the actions of the natural parent are taken into account.

Third, the Hendrixes failed prove by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Lucas is immoral, mentally unfit, or otherwise unfit. Instead, the evidence at trial showed that the living conditions of the children were clean, that they were well cared for, and that Adam provided financially for them as best he could.

Last, this case must be reversed because a natural parent should never lose custody of children absent an affirmative act of the Legislature.

#### Standards of Review

Because the trial court failed to apply the correct standard of law, this Court must review the pleadings and make a new determination using the de novo standard. The Supreme Court "will examine [a] case de novo . . . when it is clear that the chancery court's decision resulted from a misunderstanding of the controlling law or was based on a substantially erroneous view of the law." *In re Dissolution of Marriage of Leverock and Hamby*, 23 So.3d 424, 427-28 (Miss. 2009) (internal quotations omitted).

Mississippi case law and statutory law place a heavy burden on third parties seeking to terminate the custody of a natural parent, and as such they face a profound burden at trial. See *K.D.F. v. J.L.H.*, 933 So.2d 971, 980 (Miss. 2006) (in Mississippi, it is presumed that it is in the best interest of a child to remain with the natural parent as opposed to a third party); Miss. Code Ann. § 93-13-1 (guardianship of children falls to surviving parent when one is deceased). The third party must prove by clear and convincing evidence that the natural parent is not fit to take care of their family. *K.D.F.*, 933 So.2d at 979.

#### Argument

For four reasons the order of the trial court terminating the rights of the natural parent must be reversed. First, because the trial court utilized the wrong legal standard when it failed to apply the *Albright* factors. Second, because the trial court improperly weighed the actions of another person against the natural parent. Three, because the Hendrixes failed to produce clear and convincing evidence of Adam's unfitness. Last, because absent an act of the Legislature, this Court should not approve the termination of parental rights.

### I. Failure to Utilize the Albright Factors Triggers Automatic Reversal.

Because the trial court failed to use the correct legal standard, this case must be reversed. Specifically, the trial court did not weigh custody via the *Albright* factors, which warrants an immediate reversal and remand for a new trial and a determination by the trial court as to proper custody between the natural parent and the Hendrixes.

In Mississippi, in rare situations a third party may gain custody of the children of a natural parent. See *In Re Dissolution of Marriage of Leverock and Hamby*, 23 So.3d 424, 431 (Miss. 2009). Yet first a rigorous test must be passed: "[i]n a custody case involving a natural parent and third party, the court must first determine whether through abandonment, desertion, or other acts demonstrating unfitness to raise a child, as shown by clear and convincing evidence, the natural parent has relinquished his right to claim the benefit of the natural-parent presumption." *Id*.

After that point there is a second step. "If the court finds one of these factors has been proven, then the presumption vanishes, and *the court must go further* to determine custody based on the best interests of the child through an on-the-record analysis of the *Albright* factors." *Id.* (emphasis added) (citing to *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss.1983), which lists multiple factors to be considered before custody is granted).<sup>2</sup>

In the case at hand the trial court determined that Mr. Lucas, the natural parent, should not have custody of his two children. Yet the trial court failed to proceed to the *Albright* analysis. The Judgment of the trial court contains no reference to the *Albright* factors. R.E. 5-7. Nor does the Opinion and Final Judgment of the Court contain any reference or weighing of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Supreme Court has reiterated that the *Albright* factors must be applied in third party custody situations as recently as three months ago. See *D.M. v. D.R*, 2011 WL 1168187, \*4 (Miss. March 31, 2011) (citing to *Leverock* and *Albright*).

Albright factors. R.E. 8-15. Nor is there any "on-the-record analysis of the *Albright* factors" as required by the *Leverock* case or other Mississippi case law.

It is further clear from the record that the trial court employed the wrong legal standard because it expressly ruled that *Albright* did not apply. In ruling from the bench, the trial court held that "we have what's known as the best interest of the child analysis called the *Albright* factors, *but they don't apply when a third party seeks custody* . . ." R.E. 17, Tr. at 269 (emphasis added). This is simply wrong in light of Mississippi Supreme Court precedent, and as a result this case must immediately be reversed for a further determination in the trial court of the *Albright* factors.

Because the trial court failed to employ the correct legal standard, the order granting custody to the Hendrixes over the natural parent of the children must be reversed.

## II. The Trial Court Improperly Weighed Evidence Against the Father.

Because the trial court used the wrong legal standard in determining the actions of the natural parent, the order granting custody to the Hendrixes must be reversed. Specifically, the trial court improperly weighed the actions or alleged actions of Mr. Lucas' wife against him in contravention of Mississippi case law.

As noted above, in rare situations a third party may gain custody of the children of a natural parent. *Leverock*, 23 So.3d at 431. In the case at hand, there is only one natural parent remaining. So "[i]n a custody case involving a natural parent and third party, the court must first determine whether through abandonment, desertion, or other acts demonstrating unfitness to raise a child, as shown by clear and convincing evidence, *the natural parent has relinquished his right* to claim the benefit of the natural-parent presumption." *Id.* (emphasis added).

As the Court of Appeals has phrased it, the trial court determines if "the conduct of the parent is so immoral as to be detrimental to the child, or . . . the parent is mentally or otherwise

unfit to have custody of the child." *Schonewitz v. Pack*, 913 So.2d 416, 421 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (emphasis added). In other words, it is *only* the actions of the natural parent that are at issue in the analysis before the trial court—not the actions of any other person.

For example, in *Leverock* the Court ruled that "[w]e find on the record before us as a matter of law that [the father's] actions (or lack thereof) during the two and a half years before [the mother's] death constitute desertion." 23 So.3d at 431. It was only *the parent's* actions that were examined.

Yet the trial court clearly taxed Mr. Lucas with the actions of his wife, Mrs. Heather Lucas. Throughout the trial court's Opinion and Final Judgment, the trial court heavily scrutinized the alleged actions or inactions of Mrs. Lucas.<sup>3</sup> Specifically, the trial court noted that Mrs. Lucas was arrested for the sale of drugs; that she "was also heavily intoxicated in public;" and that she smokes. R.E. 11-12.

The trial court used the alleged actions of Mrs. Lucas in order to damn the natural parent of the children, Mr. Lucas. Yet these contested allegations concerning Mrs. Lucas have nothing to do with the standard set by the Supreme Court, which only examine the actions or inactions of the *natural parent*. *Leverock*, 23 So.3d at 431. The actions or inactions of Mrs. Lucas have no role to play in determining if Mr. Lucas is immoral or otherwise unfit to care for his natural children.

Because the trial court improperly weighed the alleged actions of Mrs. Lucas against the natural parent, Mr. Lucas, the order granting custody to the Hendrixes must be reversed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As will be addressed below, much of the trial court's opinion was not based on clear and convincing evidence, but rather solely on the testimony of Mrs. Hendrix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Despite the fact that Heather's conduct is irrelevant to the determination of Adam's parental fitness, this ruling was simply incorrect. The testimony instead showed that Heather had been sick on the day in question. Rachel Lucas recalled that Heather had two drinks. Tr. 82. Heather testified she only had one. Tr. 155. There was no direct evidence she was "heavily intoxicated."

#### III. Mr. Lucas Is Not Immoral, Mentally Unfit, or Otherwise Unfit.

Because the Hendrixes failed in proving by clear and convincing evidence that Mr. Lucas was immoral, mentally unfit, or otherwise unfit, the order of the trial court must be reversed.

At the outset, it is important to note that "it is presumed that the best interests of the child are served by remaining in the custody of the natural parent." *Logan v. Logan*, 730 So.2d 1124, 1125 (Miss.1998). For "[t]he presumption in all cases is that the child's parents will love it most and care for it better than anyone else and it is in the best interest of the child to leave it in the custody of a parent." *Moody v. Moody*, 211 So.2d 842, 844 (Miss.1968) (quoted with approval in *D.M. v. D.R.*, 2011 WL 1168187, \*3-4 (Miss. Mar. 31, 2011)). "In order to overcome this presumption, there must be a clear showing that the parent is unfit by reason of immoral conduct, abandonment or other circumstances which clearly indicate that the best interest of the child will be served in the custody of another." *Id*.

Further, there are "fundamental liberty interests involved whenever the State interferes with the relationship between parent and child." *D.M.*, 2011 WL 1168187 at \*3.

An important recent case on parental rights is *K.D.F. v. J.L.H.*, 933 So.2d 971, 979 (Miss. 2006). There, prospective adoptive parents argued that a biological father was "mentally and morally unfit" for fatherhood. *Id.* at 979. The parents who sought adoption argued the birth father was a longtime substance abuser and alcoholic and was immoral and irresponsible because he would have unprotected sex. *Id.* They also argued he was unfit because he had a spotty work history. *Id.* 

The chancellor refused to terminate the birth father's parental rights, holding that even though he had a history of substance abuse and poor work history, this "did not rise to a level requiring termination of his parental rights." *Id.* In affirming the trial court's decision, the Supreme Court reiterated the high burden of proof in a termination case—"the burden of proving

mental or moral unfitness by clear and convincing evidence." *Id.* In the *K.D.F.* case, there was simply not "adequate evidence" that the birth father hand an "inability to raise his child based on mental or moral unfitness." *Id.* 

In the case at hand, the trial court focused on roughly three areas in ruling that Adam was unfit to be a father to his sons: the cleanliness of his home, whether the children were well taken care of, and whether Adam drank too much and provided adequate financial stability for the family.<sup>5</sup> Each will be addressed in turn.

#### A. The Evidence Showed the House Was Clean and Safe.

The testimony showed that the house was clean—and even if it were not, a dirty house does not overcome the presumption that Adam Lucas is a fit parent to his children.

The trial judge ruled that "[t]he trailer the children live in is both overcrowded, unsanitary, and dangerous." R.E. 14.

Yet as noted above, the overwhelming weight of the testimony was that the home was clean. Even those witnesses called by the Hendrixes said so. Adam's sister-in-law Rachel testified that she thought the house was fine, as did his brother Lonnie, his mother, and both his aunts. Only Mrs. Hendrix argued the house was dirty—and she conceded that she had never reported Adam to DHS. Further, Heather testified Mrs. Hendrix had left her dog at the home while she was out of town.

The Lucas home has two dogs, and the children play with them, and Tyler said that one of the dogs once bit him, although it was not serious.

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