IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAM LUCAS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2011-CA-00015

JEANNIE H. HENDRIX and
JOHN E. HENDRIX

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY CAUSE NO. 2010-0538-C

William P. Starks, II (MSB No. STUDDARD LAW FIRM P.O. Box 1346 Columbus, MS 39703 Telephone: 662/327-6744

Facsimile: 662/327-6799

Attorney for Appellees

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAM LUCAS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2011-CA-00015

JEANNIE H. HENDRIX and
JOHN E. HENDRIX

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

APPEAL FROM THE
CHANCERY COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY
CAUSE NO. 2010-0538-C

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

custodian between two competing non-custodial parties, in the instant case where the custodial parent was deemed unfit to retain custody, this "second step" seems to be based upon legalistic formalism and mechanical jurisprudence, not common sense and practicality. Thus, the Hendrixes would encourage this Court to distinguish the *Leverock* case from this one and hold as follows: When a natural parent is found by clear and convincing evidence to have been "behaving so immorally as to be detrimental to the child" or "being unfit mentally or otherwise to have custody of the child," no further inquiry is necessary into the *Albright* factors when there is no serious issue raised as to the fitness of the party seeking custody and there are no other competing parties for custody (e.g., paternal v. maternal grandparents v. unfit natural parent).

2. Assuming Arguendo that Albright Factor Analysis is Necessary, the Chancellor Sufficiently Considered the Albright Factors.

In *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss.1983), the Court set forth the following factors to be considered by our chancery courts in determining custody:

The age of the child ... is but one factor to be considered. Age should carry no greater weight than other factors to be considered, such as: health, and sex of the child; a determination of the parent that has had the continuity of care prior to the separation; which has the best parenting skills and which has the willingness and capacity to provide primary child care; the employment of the parent and responsibilities of that employment; physical and mental health and age of the parents; emotional ties of parent and child; moral fitness of parents; the home, school and community record of the child; the preference of the child at the age sufficient to express a preference by law; stability of home environment and employment of each parent, and other factors relevant to the parent-child relationship.

Id. The natural father cites to the Chancellor's statement that "we have what's known as the best interest of the child analysis called the *Albright* factors, but they don't apply when a third party seeks custody . . ." for the proposition that the trial court used an improper legal standard. However, a review of the entire bench opinion shows the trial court was merely recognizing the natural parent presumption, the clear and convincing standard to show unfitness of a natural parent, and the fact analysis would not begin with the *Albright* factors. R.E. 16-19.

Reviewing the Bench Opinion and the written Opinion and Final Judgment of the Chancellor, it is clear that she analyzed the material *Albright* factors prior to making the decision to change custody. First, in the Bench Opinion, the Chancellor cited the 1) unstable employment history of the natural parent, 2) continued present problems with alcohol of the natural parent, 3) past problems with drugs of the natural parent, 4) drinking and driving with the children by the natural parent, 5) the children's problems in school, including among other things, one child coming to 3rd grade without snacks for a whole year and that he was unclean, the other child failing 6th grade, failing to do homework, not signing and returning progress reports. In the *Opinion and Final Judgment*, the Hendrixes concede that the Chancellor did not expressly mention *Albright*, but made a review of the relevant and material factors in her decision. An examination of the *Opinion and Final Judgment* yields the following discussions of the Albright factors:

a. Age of Child

It is undisputed that Tyler Lucas was born April 18, 1999 (11 years of age at the time of the hearing) and Cody Lucas was born January 12, 2001, (9 years of age at hearing). See Exh. D-1, 8.05 Financial Form of Adam Lucas. The Court did not mention the children's ages but it was obvious since both were present for the hearing and their teachers' testified. Since the children were not subject to the tender years doctrine, age is largely an irrelevant consideration.

b. Health and Sex of Child

Again, the sex of the two boys was obvious to everyone and there was no significant issue made by the parties to their sex or their current health at the time of the hearing. The Hendrixes concede that the Court did not specifically mention this factor in the decision.

c. Continuity of Care

The Court noted in its decision that Cody and Tyler lived with their natural father and had live with him since the death of their mother in 2005. R.E. 9, 13.

d. Best Parenting Skills

The Court found the children were "often left unsupervised with no means of communication, and have gone hungry . . ." by their natural father. R.E. 14. The court also took note of the fact that Cody never had a snack at school and of an incident where the two boys made a two mile trek at night and called their Grandparents for help. Id. In contrast to the lack of parenting, the Court found that the Grandparents had brought food

for them on at 11 occasions, and have provided financial and emotional support. R.E. 13, 14. Adam Lucas stated he had no complaints about the parenting skills of the Hendrixes. Although the Court did not explicitly state who this factor favored, it is quite obvious that it would favor the Grandparents.

e. Employment of Parent

The decision of the Court has detailed findings about the employment situation of each of the parties. The Court found that Grandfather has a gross income of approximately \$4,300.00 per month, has stable employment with Dyncorp International and that Grandmother does not work. R.E. 9. The Court also issued its finding that the natural father has had at least six (6) low-paying jobs for short period of time and was currently employed as a painter making \$10.00 per hour. R.E. 10. The Court stated that Heather "is currently employed full-time as a 'sitter' for the elderly and she works nights." Thus, this factor also clearly favors the Grandparents.

f. Physical and Mental Health and Age of Parent

The Court's decision states, "Grandfather is 55 years of age, in good health. . .," "Grandmother is also in good health," "Father is 35 years of age, in good health and has a tenth grade education." R.E. 10. There are no significant issues which would make this factor favor either party.

g. Emotional Ties

In her decision, the Chancellor found that "Shannon and the children lived with the Grandparents for two years in their home located in Ethelsville, AL," that the Grandparents "continued to visit with the children," that "Father would leave the children with the Grandparents every weekend and a lot during the summer," that the children called Grandmother when they were hungry or needed a ride, that the Grandparents provided support, both financially and emotionally, and that the Grandparents "have the best interest of the children at heart." R.E. 10, The Court also found that the "Father clearly loves his children" and that the children love him. R.E. 13, 19. This factor is one which would likely be neutral since both are close, but the Court clearly considered it.

h. Moral Fitness of the Parents

This factor was heavily considered in the determination of custody. The Court' excerpts on this issue are as follows:

- 1. Legal Problems of Father "Father has had his share of legal problems since 2005. In 2007, he received a DUI, in 2008, he was charged with possession of cocaine, and on at least two other occasions he was involved in altercations that resulted in criminal charges, the most recent being April 2010." R.E. 10.
- 2. Alcohol "Tyler testified that Father drinks too much. Father admitted that he drinks everyday but denied having a problem. In fact, Tyler stated that Father has given him beer and vodka to drink. It appears on two separate occasions, July 4, 2010, and when Father took the children to a Mississippi State football game in the fall of 2010, Father was

drinking and driving with the children in the vehicle." R.E. 12. The Court had "no doubt that Father has an alcohol problem that he refuses to address" and "[o]f even more concern, is the fact that Father has allowed his minor children to partake in illegal activities by allowing them to drink alcohol and smoke cigarettes." R.E. 14. Also, the Court found that "he has received a DUI, drinks everyday, is unable to hold a job for a significant period of time, has been publically (sic) drunk and seen driving while intoxicated with the children in his vehicle." R.E. 14.

3. Drugs — "This Court was very much impressed with the credibility of Tyler's testimony. He testified . . . he has witnessed Heather and Father selling pills." R.E. 12. The Court noted Heather, the natural father's wife, had been recently charged with sale, possession and use of drugs in a correctional facility while visiting her brother at the Lowndes County Correctional Facility. R.E. 10. Although, the natural father claims that Heather's indiscretions should not be considered, the natural father did not cite any authority that states that the stepmother's conduct in the home and in the boys' presence should not be considered. Also, such objection was never made during the trial and should not be allowed now. Further, the stepmother's actions which were held against the natural father were minor components in a long list of problems with the natural father retaining custody.

There were no questions as to the moral fitness of Grandparents. Thus, this factor clearly favors Grandparents.

i. Home, School and Community Record of Child

Home – The Court specifically found that Grandparents "live in a clean, 160 square foot home that has four (4) bedrooms." R.E. 9. "Cody and Tyler are currently living with Father in a three (3) bedroom, two (2) bath trailer located in the New Hope community" with Heather, Father's wife, and three other children from a prior marriage. R.E. 9. The Court noted that Cody and Tyler share a room with Heather's son and that the electricity had been turned off on two occasions. R.E. 10. The Court found that at the time of the hearing "two adult pit bulls and four puppies were living in the trailer with seven people." After hearing the testimony of Grandmother about dog "poop" throughout the home as well as the smell of "puke," the Court found that the "trailer that the children live in is both overcrowded, unsanitary and dangerous." R.E. 10-11, 14. Thus, this factor clearly favors the Grandparents.

School Records - "Both children are underperforming in school. Tyler is currently failing two classes. Based on Tyler's testimony, the Court finds that he is suffering in school due in large part to the problems Father and Heather are having at home. . . Both of the boys' teachers' were consistent in their testimony that Father and/or Heather appeared to be little help in making sure that the boys completed their homework or projects. In fact, Father never contacted Tyler's teacher or signed any of Cody's papers." R.E. 14. In addition, "Tyler has been tardy and has four unexcused absences. Tyler has also got in

trouble for fighting on the bus." R.E. 11. Further, Tyler's teacher indicated he is not a happy child in the classroom and just sits there. Id.

Based on the Chancellor's factual findings, it is apparent that the home situation and school records favor the Grandparents.

j. Preference of the Child

Both children were under the age of 12 at the time of the hearing, so this factor was inapplicable.

k. Stability of Home Environment

Of note, the Chancellor found that the children were negatively impacted by the arguing of Father and Heather, the difficulties with paying their utility bills and the excessive drinking which takes place at their Father's home. R.E. 14. The Chancellor's decision certainly indicates this factor would also go in the Grandparents favor since "Grandparents can offer a clean, stable environment" where the children can "feel secure and protected." R.E. 15.

Based on a thorough examination of the decision, all of the material *Albright* factors were discussed, and the Chancellor found that the facts set forth in the Opinion and Final Judgment were "determinative in this case after judging the credibility of each witness and determining the weight to be given to all trial testimony." R.E. 9. Although the Court does not list each factor and go through expressly discussing each, it is evident that the Court considered these factors and that the superfluous endeavor of writing an analysis of each

would favor the Grandparents. In Murphy v. Murphy, 797 So.2d 325, 330 (§19) (Miss.App., 2001), the Court of Appeals stated:

The chancellor's failure to make precise findings is not especially significant if we can with confidence state that she considered the proper factors. Given the chancellor's lengthy recitation of the evidence that she found relevant to each factor, we have such confidence. Finding no threshold reversible error in the manner in which the decision was expressed, though noting that it would be far preferable for precise findings to appear in the chancellor's opinion . . .

Id. See also Mitchell v. Mitchell, 820 So.2d 714 (Miss.App.,2000) (affirmed trial court where Chancellor did not recite each Albright factor, but expressly addressed several factors). The Court's decision in this case is quite detailed, amply supported by sufficient evidence, and lists all of the significant issues contained in the Albright factors; thus, the Chancellor's decision should be affirmed.

III. THE NATURAL FATHER'S CHALLENGE OF THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE CHANGE IN CUSTODY IS UNFOUNDED AND PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

First, the chancery court's jurisdiction is set by the Mississippi Constitution, and cannot be diminished by statute. See Miss. Const. art. VI, § 159 which provides:

The chancery court shall have full jurisdiction in the following matters and cases, viz.:

- (a) All matters in equity;
- (b) Divorce and alimony;
- (c) Matters testamentary and of administration;
- (d) Minor's business;
- (e) Cases of idiocy, lunacy, and persons of unsound mind;
- (f) All cases of which the said court had jurisdiction under the laws in force when this Constitution is put in operation.

The Chancery Court has broad jurisdiction over all matter in equity. "Child custody is a matter of equity . . ." *Divers v. Divers*, 856 So.2d 370, 376(¶27) (Miss.Ct.App.2003). Thus, the Chancery Court actually has constitutionally granted jurisdiction to decide custody of any and all child custody determinations.

Further, the natural father failed to raise the issue of constitutionality at the trial court level. "This Court's general policy is that 'errors raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered, especially where constitutional questions are concerned.' "Powers v. Tiebauer, 939 So.2d 749, 752 (Miss.2005)(citing Stockstill v. State, 854 So.2d 1017, 1023 (Miss.2003)). Therefore, the natural father is procedurally barred from raising the issue now.

CONCLUSION

In this custody dispute, it was shown by clear and convincing evidence that Adam Lucas was unfit to retain custody. The Chancellor based her decision upon more than sufficient evidence and used the proper legal standard in determining that custody should be granted to a third party, the maternal grandparents. Any consideration of the *Albright* factors, which was not even necessary, by the Chancellor weighed almost exclusively in favor of the Hendrixes. Additionally, the attempt to question the constitutionality of third party custody is unfounded and procedurally barred. Thus, all relief requested by Appellants should be denied and the Chancellor's decision affirmed.